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INTRODUCTION 

This petition challenges the Eastgate Air Cargo Facility (“Eastgate”) project, 

which will have air quality impacts in California neighborhoods that suffer from 

amongst the worst air quality in the nation. Despite a cursory and incomplete 

environmental review, the Federal Aviation Administration (“FAA” or “agency”) 

issued a Record of Decision (“ROD”) and Finding of No Significant Impact 

(“FONSI”) concluding that building and operating the 658,500 square-foot air 

cargo warehouse would not have a significant impact on the human environment. 

The Center for Community Action & Environmental Justice, Sierra Club, 

Teamsters Local 1932, Shana Saters and Martha Romero (collectively, “Clean Air 

Advocates”) petition for review of the FAA’s final agency orders to this Court.  

Pursuant to Federal Rule of Appellate Procedure 18, Clean Air Advocates 

ask this Court to stay the agency’s actions and enjoin construction of Eastgate 

pending judicial review. As detailed below, Clean Air Advocates have a high 

likelihood of demonstrating in this review that the FAA’s decision to approve 

Eastgate was unlawful under the National Environmental Policy Act (“NEPA”), 42 

U.S.C. §§ 4321 et seq., and was therefore arbitrary and capricious. Construction of 

the project began on January 21, 2020 and operations are due to begin any day. As 

the FAA acknowledges, Eastgate will emit 214.05 tons of air pollution by the end 

of 2020. Absent a stay setting aside the FAA’s final orders pending review, 
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construction and operations at Eastgate are likely to irreparably harm the Clean Air 

Advocates. 

THE AGENCY PROCEEDINGS 

On December 23, 2019, the FAA issued a FONSI and ROD under NEPA 

approving immediate construction and operations at Eastgate. Exhibit A to the 

Petition for Review (“Ex. A”) (ECF No. 1-8) at 2. The San Bernardino 

International Airport Authority (the “Airport”) received notice of FAA’s approval 

of Eastgate that same day, and quickly organized a special meeting for December 

30, 2019, where it voted to approve the ground lease for the project by and 

between the Airport and the project developer, Hillwood Enterprises L.P. 

(“Hillwood”). Exhibit E to the Petition for Review (“Ex. E”) (ECF No. 1-12) at 2, 

11, 142. The public was not informed about the FAA’s issuance of the final orders 

until the day of the special meeting, when the Airport posted the FONSI, ROD and 

Final Environmental Assessment (“Final EA”) on its website. See Declaration of 

Adriano L. Martinez (hereinafter, “MD”) at ¶ 3, submitted herewith. On January 2, 

2020, after the ground lease for Eastgate Bldg. 1, LLC had been approved, the 

Federal Register published the FONSI and ROD. Ex. A (ECF No. 1-8) at 34. 

Construction began on or before January 21, 2020, and according to the EA, 

operations could begin as early as the first month of construction. See MD at ¶ 4. 
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The FAA based its ROD on the faulty and incomplete environmental review 

process memorialized in the Final EA, which it approved on December 20, 2019. 

Exhibit B to the Petition for Review (“Ex. B”) (ECF No. 1-9) at 36. In response to 

the project’s Draft EA, the Airport received 847 written comment letters from 

federal, state, county, and city agencies and officials, as well as members of the 

public. Ex. A (ECF No. 1-8) at 6; Ex. B (ECF No. 1-9) at 3. Clean Air Advocates 

submitted comments on the Draft EA critiquing its incomplete assessment of 

Eastgate’s impacts on air quality, climate, and noise, among others, and requested 

that a full EIS be prepared. Ex. B (ECF No. 1-9) at 644-732, 898-905, 910-33, 

1244-46, 1266-67. The FAA denied multiple requests for an additional 30-day 

public review and comment period on the Final EA and FONSI. Id. at 1248-65. On 

February 11, 2020, the Clean Air Advocates requested that the agency stay its final 

agency actions pending judicial review. See MD at ¶ 7 and Exhibit 1 thereto. The 

FAA denied this request on March 2, 2020. See id. at ¶ 8 and Exhibit 2 thereto. 

Because construction and operations will cause irreparable harm to the air 

quality in San Bernardino, it is not practicable for Clean Air Advocates to wait for 

a final adjudication before the merits panel. Accordingly, on March 11, 2020,  

Clean Air Advocates notified Respondents that they intended to file this motion for 

a stay pending judicial review in this Court under Federal Rule of Appellate 

Procedure 18. See id. at ¶ 9. On March 13, 2020, the FAA and Stephen Dickson 
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notified of their intent to oppose this motion. See id. The remaining respondents 

and proposed intervenors reserved their rights to take a position. See id. On March 

16, 2020 counsel for California asked counsel for respondents and proposed 

defendant-intervenors whether they intended to suspend construction and 

operations in light of the COVID-19 pandemic. See id. at ¶ 10. Respondent 

Hillwood and proposed intervenor Eastgate Bldg 1, LLC responded on March 16, 

2020 that there are no plans for any such pause. See id. Respondents FAA and 

Stephen Dickson likewise was not aware of any such pause. See id.  

BACKGROUND 

I. Air Quality in Neighborhoods Near the Project Site.  

The South Coast Air Basin, which includes the urban portions of San 

Bernardino, Riverside, and Los Angeles Counties, in addition to all of Orange 

County, suffers amongst the worst air pollution in the nation. See 40 C.F.R. § 

81.305. For example, the Final EA shows that the relevant ozone air monitor for 

this project dramatically increased the number of days it exceeded the ozone 

standard, moving from 49 violation days in 2016 to 100 in 2018. Ex. A (ECF No. 

1-8) at 85. In fact, the California Air Resources Board, the agency responsible for 

controlling mobile sources of pollution in California, identified the Basin in the 

“top 5% for Pollution Burden” in California. Ex. B (ECF No. 1-9) at 58. 
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Eastgate exemplifies the slapdash rush to build freight facilities without 

understanding fully the harms to neighborhoods in the region. The development 

would be an air cargo warehouse built on a 101.5-acre airport lot in San 

Bernardino, California. Id. at 52. It would neighbor twelve K-12 schools and 

border a cluster of homes. Id. at 121. As a package sorting and distribution hub, the 

development plans to run 52 take offs and landings, new around-the-clock flights, 

seven days a week. Id. at 138. It would also generate at least 500 additional daily 

heavy duty truck trips. Id. at 139-40.  

By Respondents’ own estimates, in 2020 alone, the project will emit 214.05 

tons of air pollution, amounting to 0.58 tons of emissions every day.1 See id. at 

155. The bulk of emissions in 2020—i.e., 184.24 tons and 86% of total emissions 

this year—will come from operations, which are due to begin any day. See id. at 

155-56; see also id. at 138 (“[a]n existing 8-acre asphalt ramp would support air 

cargo activities from December 2019, through the remaining construction 

period.”). In 2024, emissions will nearly double to 355.56 tons per year, or about 

one ton per day. See id. at 150. In fact, the South Coast Air Quality Management 

District (the “Air District”) noted that nitrogen oxide emissions from the project 

                                           
 
1 The Final EA assumed that construction would begin in December 2019 and be 
completed in 2020. See Ex. B (ECF No. 1-8) at 149, 153. Because construction did 
not begin until January 2020, construction emissions in the Final EA for 2019 and 
2020 are combined to determine total construction emissions for this year.  
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are 18 times the significance threshold for the California Environmental Quality 

Act. Id. at 78. Adding this level of pollution to the already-saturated San 

Bernardino air will impact the health of children and the community.  

Greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emissions from Eastgate will also be significant. 

In 2020, Eastgate will dump 27,991 new metric tons of CO2 equivalent (“CO2e”) 

GHG emissions per year, and these emissions will effectively double to 55,842 

metric tons CO2e per year in 2024. Id. at 171.   

II. The Environmental Review Process at Eastgate. 

In 2018, Hillwood and the Airport began seeking FAA approval to allow the 

developer to begin construction of Eastgate. See Ex. B (ECF No. 1-9) at 50. NEPA 

requires federal agencies to prepare an EIS to analyze the potential environmental 

impacts of “major Federal actions significantly affecting the quality of the human 

environment.” 42 U.S.C. § 4332(C). The FAA prepared a Draft and Final EA first 

to evaluate whether an EIS might be necessary, pursuant to 40 C.F.R. section 

1508.9. In preparing this assessment, the agency is required to consider each of the 

binding factors listed in the Council on Environmental Quality (“CEQ”) 

regulations. 40 C.F.R. § 1508.27. The agency’s own regulations also acknowledge 

that the FAA must evaluate federal, state and local air quality requirements, and 

that sometimes these requirements may be more stringent than federal standards. 

FAA Order 1050.1F § 4.3 (2015); FAA 1050.1F Desk Reference § 1.1.2 (2020). 

Case: 20-70272, 03/18/2020, ID: 11634527, DktEntry: 31-1, Page 11 of 27



7 
 

Despite these clear requirements, the Draft EA did not consider all of the binding 

CEQ factors. As detailed below, the FAA failed to evaluate “[w]hether the action 

threatens a violation of Federal, State, or local law or requirements imposed for the 

protection of the environment.” 40 C.F.R. § 1508.27(b)(10).  

On August 19, 2019, the Clean Air Advocates submitted a comment letter 

requesting that the FAA evaluate the project’s impacts on California’s air quality 

standards, which are more stringent than federal standards, and the 2008 and 2015 

federal 8-hour ozone air quality standards, all of which were ignored in the EA 

analysis. See Ex. B (ECF No. 1-9) at 898-905. The agency dismissed the requests. 

See id. at 906-09. By concluding that state and local environmental requirements 

only need to be “identified as early as possible,” not actually evaluated for 

compliance, and that “it is infeasible” to perform dispersion-modeling analyses for 

the 2008 and 2015 federal ozone smog standards, the agency maintained its 

position that Eastgate would not have significant impacts. See id.  

In a supplemental comment letter accepted by the FAA on December 3, 

2019,  Clean Air Advocates asked the agency to evaluate how Eastgate will impact 

attainment of California’s GHG emission requirements pursuant to 40 C.F.R. 

section 1508.27(b)(10). See id. at 1266-67. The agency again dismissed the request 

on the basis that “[t]he FAA’s Orders carry no requirement or obligation under 
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NEPA to reconcile the GHG emissions generated by the Proposed Project with the 

State of California GHG emissions goals.” See id. at 1268. 

At the same time, the agency was required to demonstrate Eastgate’s 

impacts on attaining the 1997, 2008 and 2015 8-hour federal ozone National 

Ambient Air Quality Standards (“NAAQS”). See Ex. B (ECF No. 1-9) at 603-724. 

The 1997, 2008, and 2015 8-hour ozone standards will all be concurrently in effect 

in 2024, the study year for the Final EA, and each set increasingly strict thresholds 

at 0.080 parts per million (“ppm”), 0.075 ppm, and 0.070 ppm, respectively. See id. 

at 660-62. When it became apparent that Eastgate’s impacts on air quality would 

exceed de minimis thresholds for all three of these standards, the Airport looked for 

a loophole. On April 30, 2019, the Air District by letter approved the Airport’s 

request to stash Eastgate’s emissions under its general conformity emissions 

budget within its attainment plan for the 1997 8-hour ozone standard, the 2012 Air 

Quality Management Plan (the “2012 Plan”). See id. at 704-06. However, the 

remainder of Eastgate’s emissions continue to impact attainment of the more health 

protective and stricter 2008 and 2015 8-hour ozone standards. Id.  

Despite all this, on December 20, 2019, FAA concluded that building and 

operating the 658,500 square foot warehouse and adding 52 daily freight airplane 

take-offs and landings would “not significantly affect the quality of the human 

environment.” See Ex. A (ECF No. 1-8) at 33. Because the Final EA, ROD and 
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FONSI fail to support the conclusion that these air quality and GHG standards can 

be ignored, and because this analysis is illegal, the Clean Air Advocates filed a 

petition for review on January 29, 2020. See Petition for Review (ECF No. 1-7). 

STANDING 

Clean Air Advocates have standing to challenge FAA’s approval of the 

Eastgate project, which directly affects the health, quality of life, and aesthetic 

interests of its members. An organization has standing to bring an action on behalf 

of its members if: (1) neither the claim asserted nor the relief requested requires its 

individual members to participate directly in the lawsuit, (2) it is seeking to protect 

interests that are germane to its purpose, and (3) its members would have standing 

to sue individually. See Hunt v. Washington State Apple Advertising Comm’n, 432 

U.S. 333, 343 (1977). Clean Air Advocates have met all these requirements.  

 Here, direct participation of the members of Petitioner organizations is 

unnecessary. Moreover, the interests Clean Air Advocates seek to advance through 

this litigation fall squarely within their organization’s missions. See Standing 

Declarations (hereinafter, “SD”) at 14 ¶ 4; 23-24 ¶ 5, submitted herewith. The 

organizations each have members with standing to bring this suit individually.  

To satisfy the final prong of this test, Clean Air Advocates must show that 

(1) at least one of its members has suffered an “injury in fact,” (2) the injury is 

fairly traceable to EPA’s illegal conduct, and (3) it is likely, as opposed to merely 
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speculative, that the injury will be redressed by a favorable decision. Friends of the 

Earth, Inc. v. Laidlaw Envtl. Servs., Inc., 528 U.S. 167, 180-81 (2000). In addition, 

“the presence of one party with standing is sufficient to satisfy Article III’s case-

or-controversy requirement.” Rumsfeld v. Forum for Acad. & Institutional Rights, 

Inc., 547 U.S. 47, 52 n.2 (2006). Clean Air Advocates easily meet this test.  

 Clean Air Advocates’ members allege concrete injuries because, as residents 

near the project site, they are compelled to breathe levels of ozone violating 

standards promulgated to protect public health. See SD at 38-39 ¶¶ 2, 6 (lives 

inside study area, and “can tell [her] health conditions are getting worse”); see id. 

at 3 ¶ 2 (her symptoms only became significant when she moved close to project). 

Members are also concerned about the effects of ozone pollution on their health. 

See id. at 32-33 ¶ 6 (suffers from asthma, severe allergies, and migraines); see id. 

at 3 ¶ 6 (suffers from throat pain, sinus congestion, and feeling unable to breathe); 

see id. at 27 ¶ 6 (suffers from sinus congestion, a runny nose, an intermittent 

cough, stinging eyes, and low energy). For example, several members have 

breathing difficulties exacerbated by air pollution. See id. at 39 ¶ 8 (“I am no 

longer able to even walk around my block without struggling to breathe”); see id. 

at 18 ¶ 5 (“I intermittently experience shortness of breath, tightness in my chest, 

extreme congestion, and dizziness”); see id. at 39 ¶ 6 (“I take three allergy 

medications daily, . . . and get allergy shots to manage my asthma and allergy 
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symptoms”). Indeed, many members of Clean Air Advocates have family 

members, including children who also suffer from pollution. See id. at 34 ¶ 10 

(“my fourteen year old daughter has asthma” so “[m]y three children stay with my 

mother because she lives in an area with cleaner air”); see id. at 40 ¶ 9 (mother 

diagnosed with emphysema, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, and asthma); 

see id. at 19 ¶¶ 6, 10 (“it feels like I need to begin to deal with the impact of losing 

my father”); see id. at 33-34 ¶ 9 (“I fear that [my father’s] sickness was caused by 

air pollution”). Also, Sierra Club’s aesthetic interests are harmed because ozone 

haze obscures the view of Southern California’s mountains. See id. at 28 ¶ 9. 

 The physical and aesthetic harms suffered by Clean Air Advocates’ 

members are traceable to the FAA’s unlawful conduct. If the agency had properly 

studied the impacts of the project pursuant to NEPA, an EIS would have been 

required, and as a result, residents might breathe cleaner air. See, e.g., Public 

Interest Research Group of N.J., Inc. v. Powell Duffryn Terminals Inc., 913 F.2d 

64, 72 (3d Cir. 1990) (defendant’s conduct need only contribute to injury suffered). 

 Finally, a favorable order by this Court, such as an order vacating FAA’s 

approval of the Eastgate project, will provide redress to Clean Air Advocates by 

allowing them to participate in a complete and thorough environmental review 

process. See Ctr. for Energy & Econ. Dev. v. EPA, 398 F.3d 653, 657 (D.C. Cir. 

2005) (holding that “the redressability requirement may be satisfied . . . by 
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vacating the challenged rule and giving the aggrieved party the opportunity to 

participate in a new rulemaking”) (internal citation omitted). For the above 

reasons, Clean Air Advocates have standing to challenge FAA’s approval. 

ARGUMENT 

Motions for stays pending judicial review are granted under the same 

standard as motions for preliminary injunctions. See Leiva-Perez v. Holder, 640 

F.3d 962, 964 (9th Cir. 2011). Specifically, a party must demonstrate that (1) it is 

“likely to succeed on the merits,” (2) it is “likely to suffer irreparable harm in the 

absence of . . . relief,” (3) “that the balance of equities tips in [its] favor,” and (4) 

the issuance of a stay is “in the public interest.” Winter v. Natural Res. Def. 

Council, 555 U.S. 7, 20 (2008). The Ninth Circuit has also held that “serious 

questions going to the merits” and a balance of hardships that tips sharply towards 

petitioners can support issuance of a stay, so long as there is a likelihood of 

irreparable injury and the relief requested is in the public interest. Alliance for the 

Wild Rockies v. Cottrell, 632 F.3d 1127, 1135 (9th Cir. 2011). 

I. The Clean Air Advocates Have A Strong Likelihood of Succeeding on 
the Merits of the Claim that the FAA’s Agency Actions Are Unlawful. 

The FONSI, ROD, and Final EA for Eastgate are final agency actions that 

must be set aside under the Administrative Procedure Act, 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A), if 

they are found to be “arbitrary, capricious, or not otherwise in accordance with 

law.” See Bennett v. Spear, 520 U.S. 154, 174 (1997). A final agency action is 
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arbitrary and capricious if it does not “consider[] the relevant factors and 

articulate[] a rational connection between the facts found and the choice made.” 

Pac. Coast Fed’n of Fishermen’s Ass’ns, Inc. v. Nat’l Marine Fisheries Serv., 265 

F.3d 1028, 1034 (9th Cir. 2001). The reviewing court “may not supply a reasoned 

basis for the agency’s action that the agency itself has not given.” Motor Vehicle 

Mfrs. Ass’n v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 463 U.S. 29, 43 (1983) (citation 

omitted). With respect to NEPA documents, this Court “must determine whether 

the EA foster[s] both informed decision-making and informed public 

participation.” Ctr. for Biological Diversity v. Nat’l Highway Traffic Safety 

Admin., 538 F.3d 1172, 1194 (9th Cir. 2008) (citation omitted).  

A. The FAA’s Failure to Consider the Binding CEQ Factors in Its 
Environmental Review Was Arbitrary and Capricious.   

1. The FAA’s final agency actions do not consider Eastgate’s 
impacts on attainment of California’s air quality standards.  

In their comments on the Draft EA, the Clean Air Advocates raised concerns 

that the EA did not fulfill the FAA’s affirmative duty under NEPA to evaluate 

Eastgate’s impacts on attainment of California’s air quality standards and the 

federal 2008 and 2015 8-hour ozone standards.2 See Ex. B (ECF No. 1-9) at 898-

905. Despite the clear mandate that a federal agency must evaluate “[w]hether the 

                                           
 
2 This is not an exhaustive list of issues Clean Air Advocates may litigate. See, e.g., 
Ex. B (ECF No. 1-9) at 644-732, 898-905, 910-33, 1244-46, 1266-67. 
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action threatens a violation of Federal, State, or local law or requirements imposed 

for the protection of the environment,” 40 C.F.R. § 1508.27(b)(10), the FAA did 

not engage in these mandatory assessments. The failure to consider Eastgate’s 

impacts on attainment of all relevant federal and state air quality standards is 

arbitrary, capricious, and not in accordance with the law. See Conservation Cong. 

v. U.S. Forest Serv., No. CIV. S-13-0832 LKK/DAD, 2013 WL 4829320, at *16 

(E.D. Cal. Sept. 6, 2013) (EIS required because Forest Service did not consider 

impacts of the project on federal law).   

While the Draft EA acknowledged that California’s Clean Air Act sets strict 

air quality standards and even conceded that California’s standards are more 

stringent than federal law, the analysis in the Final EA approved in December 2019 

stopped short of examining how Eastgate will impact attainment of the California 

Ambient Air Quality Standards (“CAAQS”). See Ex. B (ECF No. 1-9) at 134; 

Exhibit C to the Petition for Review (“Ex. C”) (ECF No. 1-10) at 95. Nothing in 

the record justifies this oversight—FAA should have prepared an EIS that 

adequately addressed this issue. Indeed, CEQ regulations mandate that the agency 

“should” consider “[w]hether the action threatens a violation of Federal, State, or 

local law or requirements imposed for the protection of the environment.” 40 

C.F.R. § 1508.27(b)(10). When faced with this question, this Court has upheld this 

requirement to consider state standards. Sierra Club v. U.S. Forest Serv., 843 F.2d 
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1190, 1195 (9th Cir. 1988) (Forest Service had to prepare EIS because EA did not 

consider the impacts of logging on attainment of California’s water standards). 

 Instead, the Final EA cobbled together a string of facts to justify its 

exemption from this obligation:  

California law does not require that CAAQS be met by specified dates 
as is the case with NAAQS. Rather, it requires incremental progress 
toward attainment. However, attainment of the NAAQS has 
precedence over attainment of the CAAQS due to federal penalties for 
failure to meet federal attainment deadlines. Therefore, this air quality 
assessment focuses on the Proposed Project’s potential air emission 
impacts relative to the NAAQS. 
 

See Ex. A (ECF No. 1-8) at 146. However, there is nothing in the record that 

supports the FAA’s deviation from NEPA’s binding framework to consider 

whether its action impacts meeting California’s air quality standards. The FAA’s 

avoidance of these important state standards has real and serious consequences—

the public and decision-makers have not been presented with relevant information 

about how this project will affect California’s objectives of meeting its own air 

quality standards. See Sierra Club v. U.S. Forest Serv., 843 F.2d at 1195. The 

agency’s determination is arbitrary, capricious, and not in accordance with the law.  

2. The FAA’s final orders do not consider the impacts of 
Eastgate on attainment of the 2008 and 2015 8-hour federal 
ozone standards.  

At the same time, the FAA failed to show how its emissions from Eastgate 

will impact attainment of the two most recently adopted federal ozone air quality 
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standards. The FAA has the affirmative obligation under NEPA to show that 

Eastgate will not interfere with the state’s ability to meet the all relevant ozone 

standards, specifically the 1997, 2008, and 2015 8-hour federal ozone standards. 

See 40 C.F.R. § 1508.27(b)(10). In fact, there is no explanation for why the only 

relevant benchmark is the more than two decades old 1997 federal ozone standard. 

The Final EA does not explain how the more recent 2008 and 2015 federal ozone 

NAAQS are not “requirements imposed for the protection of the environment.” See 

id. Just like the 1997 standard, the 2008 and 2015 standards require attainment by a 

certain date and have federal penalties.  

The Airport cannot satisfy NEPA’s requirements by simply relying on the 

Air District’s letter saying its emissions conform to the 2012 Plan. See Ex. B (ECF 

No. 1-9) at 704-06. Because the 2012 Plan only sets a path to attainment for the 

1997 federal ozone NAAQS standard, emissions impacts on attaining the more 

recent and stricter 2008 and 2015 federal ozone NAAQS were not addressed by the 

Air District’s letter. In fact, the 2012 Plan does not even mention the strictest 2015 

0.07 ppm standard, and explicitly states that “[t]he attainment demonstration for 

the new 8-hour ozone standard [set at 0.075 ppm] will be addressed in the 2015 

ozone plan.” See Ex. B (ECF No. 1-9) at 902.  

The Clean Air Advocates raised these concerns and requested that a full EIS 

be prepared, but the agency plowed forward. In the deficient Final EA, the agency 
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blamed “the state of environmental science modeling in use at this time” for why it 

ignored Eastgate’s impacts on attainment of the 2008 and 2015 ozone standards. 

See id. at 907. The agency explained in the Final EA that “[t]he 2008 and 2018 

[sic] 8-hour ozone thresholds were not used as part of the dispersion-modeling 

analyses because . . . the complexity of ozone formation” made it “infeasible to 

determine whether, or to what extent, a single project’s ozone precursor . . . 

emissions would potentially result in the formation of secondary ground-level 

ozone.” Id. at 907-08. Importantly, dispersion modeling challenges do not excuse 

the FAA from complying with the strict requirements of NEPA requiring some 

analysis of how this project impacts these more stringent and health protective 

federal air quality standards. See 40 C.F.R. § 1508.27(b)(10). 

In sum, the FAA ignoring how this project impacts more recent 8-hour 

ozone standards is arbitrary, capricious, and not in accordance with the law.  

3. The FAA’s final agency actions do not consider Eastgate’s 
impacts on the attainment of California’s GHG standards.  

For the same reasons, the failure to evaluate how the project will impact 

meeting California’s mandatory GHG standards violates NEPA. Recognizing the 

“serious threat” posed by GHGs to “the economic well-being, public health, 

natural resources, and the environment of California,” the state enacted various 

laws setting mandatory GHG standards. See Cal. Health & Safety Code § 38501. 

The California Air Resources Board must “reduce state emissions of greenhouse 
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gases to at least the 1990 emissions level by 2020,” and “ensure that statewide 

greenhouse gas emissions are reduced to at least 40 percent below the statewide 

greenhouse gas emissions limit” by the end of 2030. See id. §§ 38561, 38566. 

Despite Clean Air Advocates’ comments, the Final EA does not mention or 

evaluate these binding state GHG requirements. NEPA requires more than the 

FAA simply asserting “[t]he FAA’s Orders carry no requirement or obligation . . . 

to reconcile the GHG emissions generated by the Proposed Project with the State 

of California GHG emissions goals,” and then concluding without any further 

explanation or analysis that the project will not result in significant GHG 

emissions. See Ex. B (ECF No. 1-9) at 173; id. at 1268. Rather, the Final EA 

should have evaluated the project’s impacts against the binding California GHG 

standards. 40 C.F.R. § 1508.27(b)(10). 

Because the FAA failed to consider relevant factors, there is a strong 

likelihood of success on the merits. 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A); 40 C.F.R. § 1508.27. 

II. Because Clean Air Advocates Will be Irreparably Injured by 
Construction and Operations at Eastgate, the Balance of Hardships 
Favors Granting a Stay Pending Judicial Review in this Case. 

“Environmental injury, by its nature, can seldom be adequately remedied by 

money damages and is often permanent or at least of long duration, i.e., 

irreparable.” Amoco Prod. Co. v. Vill. of Gambell, 480 U.S. 531, 545 (1987). 

Eastgate Building 1, LLC has already begun construction, and if allowed to 
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proceed and operate its 52 new daily freight airplane take-offs and landings, will 

cause irrevocable harm to the already severely polluted air in the region and to 

Petitioners’ interests. Clean Air Advocates retained an expert to view the record in 

this case. Based on his assessment, he determined that “even just considering the 

faulty and poor technical analysis as presented in the EA, there is no question that 

the harmful air quality impacts will be significant, adverse, and irreparable.” See 

Declaration of Ranajit Sahu at 27.3  

Construction and operations at Eastgate will likely irreparably harm Clean 

Air Advocates’ abilities to safely breathe in the region, and “when environmental 

injury is sufficiently likely, the balance of harms will usually favor the issuance of 

an injunction to protect the environment.” Idaho Sporting Cong. v. Alexander, 222 

F.3d 562, 569 (9th Cir. 2000) (citation omitted). Meanwhile, if a stay is granted, 

the Airport and Eastgate Bldg 1, LLC may be delayed in accruing the full 

economic benefits from Eastgate. The FAA will suffer little or no harm. In 

weighing these interests, this Court is clear that “irreparable environmental injuries 

outweigh the temporary delay [respondents] face in receiving a part of the 

economic benefits of the project.” League of Wilderness Defenders v. 

                                           
 
3 Clean Air Advocates solely rely on Dr. Sahu’s declaration and its contents to provide 
evidence of irreparable harm resulting from the Eastgate project. 
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Connaughton, 752 F.3d 755, 765-66 (9th Cir. 2014). As a result, the balance of 

hardships supports a stay pending review in this case.  

III. The Public Interest Favors a Stay Pending Review. 

Finally, the public interest favors the issuance of a stay in this case. Courts 

have recognized that “Congress’s determination in enacting NEPA was that the 

public interest requires careful consideration of environmental impacts before 

major federal projects may go forward.” S. Fork Band Council of W. Shoshone of 

Nevada v. U.S. Dep’t of Interior, 588 F.3d 718, 728 (9th Cir. 2009). Indeed, 

ensuring that government agencies comply with NEPA and “suspending such 

[federal] projects until that consideration occurs comports with the public interest.” 

Alliance for the Wild Rockies, 632 F.3d at 1138 (citation omitted). 

CONCLUSION 

For all the above-stated reasons, the Clean Air Advocates request that this 

Court stay construction and operations at Eastgate pending judicial review.  

Respectfully submitted,  

Dated:  March 18, 2020                   
Adriano L. Martinez 
Counsel for Petitioners 
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CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE 
 
 I hereby certify that PETITIONERS’ MOTION FOR STAY PENDING 

REVIEW contains 4986 words and is 20 pages, excluding the items exempted by 

Federal Rules of Appellate Procedure 27(a)(2)(B) and 32(f), and thus complies 

with this Court’s type-volume and length requirements under Appellate Rules 

27(d)(2)(A) and 32(g), and Circuit Rule 27-1(d).  I further certify that this motion’s 

typeface and type-style comply with the requirements of Appellate Rules 32(a)(5) 

and (6).   

 
Executed on March 18, 2020, in Los Angeles, California. 

 
   
Adriano L. Martinez 
Counsel for Petitioners 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that I electronically filed the foregoing with the Clerk of the 

Court for the United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit by using the 

appellate CM/ECF system on March 18, 2020. 

All participants in the case are registered CM/ECF users and will be served 

by the CM/ECF system. 

Respectfully submitted this 18th day of March, 2020. 

 
                 
Adriano L. Martinez 
Counsel for Petitioners 
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